Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-12-2012

Begley v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 39892

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

David Begley appeals from the district court's order summarily dismissing his amended petition for post-conviction relief. On appeal, he asserts that the district court erred when it summarily dismissed his claim that his *Alford* plea was not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made because the record of his plea hearing, at which he maintained his innocence, did not contain a strong factual basis for the charge to which he pled guilty. He also asserts that the district court erred when it summarily dismissed another of his claims without providing notice of the reasons for dismissal.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

Following an unsuccessful direct appeal, Mr. Begley filed a *pro se* verified petition for post-conviction relief, supported by an affidavit, along with a motion for appointment of counsel. (R., pp.2-15.) The State filed a boilerplate answer, and counsel was appointed. (R., pp.26-31.) Appointed counsel then filed a verified amended petition for post-conviction relief containing twelve claims, supported by an affidavit of Mr. Begley.¹ (R., pp.36-49.) The State then filed a boilerplate answer to the amended petition. (R., pp.49-51.)

Appointed counsel filed a motion for summary disposition as to one of the twelve claims raised in his amended petition, namely, the assertion that Mr. Begley's "guilty plea was not knowingly and voluntarily made because the court failed to determine a

¹ The amended petition did not incorporate the original petition by reference; therefore, any claims contained in the original petition but not in the amended petition will not be addressed on appeal.

factual basis for his *Alford* plea after [he] continued to maintain his innocence." (R., pp.52-53.) This motion was followed by a brief in support, containing argument and citation to numerous cases supporting Mr. Begley's position. (R., pp.60-75.) The State filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Summary Disposition. (Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Summary Disposition².)

The district court then issued an order denying Mr. Begley's motion for partial summary disposition, and providing notice of its intent to summarily dismiss Mr. Begley's amended petition. (R., pp.79-85.) Mr. Begley filed a response, in which he pointed out, *inter alia*, that the district court's order and notice of intent to dismiss did not address his claim that a strong factual basis must be found before an *Alford* plea can be considered to have been made knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. (R., pp.87-90.) The district court then issued an Order of Dismissal, in which it rejected Mr. Begley's claim that it had not considered his strong factual basis argument, explaining, "[t]he Court finds that in its previous order referenced above, the Court addressed all issues raised by Petitioner." (R., p.92.) Mr. Begley then filed a Notice of Appeal timely from the district court's Order of Dismissal. (R., p.95.) The district court later issued a judgment summarily dismissing Mr. Begley's petition. (Judgment & Decree (augmentation).)

² A file-stamped copy of this memorandum is attached to a Motion to Augment filed on October 3, 2012.

<u>ISSUES</u>

- 1. Did the district court err when it summarily dismissed Mr. Begley's claim that his *Alford* plea was not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made because the record of his plea hearing, at which he maintained his innocence, did not contain a strong factual basis for the charge to which he pled guilty?
- 2. Did the district court err when it summarily dismissed another claim raised in Mr. Begley's amended petition for post-conviction relief without providing notice of the reasons for dismissal?

ARGUMENT

1.

The District Court Erred When It Summarily Dismissed Mr. Begley's Claim That His Alford Plea Was Not Knowingly, Intelligently, And Voluntarily Made Because The Record Of His Plea Hearing, At Which He Maintained His Innocence, Did Not Contain A Strong Factual Basis For The Charge To Which He Pleaded Guilty

Mr. Begley asserts that the district court erred when it summarily dismissed a claim that his *Alford* plea was not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made because the record of his plea hearing, at which he maintained his innocence, did not contain a strong factual basis for the charge to which he pleaded guilty. Because there was, at the very least, a genuine issue of material fact as to this claim, Mr. Begley was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on it.

When deciding whether to accept a defendant's guilty plea, Idaho law generally does not require that the trial court establish a factual basis before accepting such a plea. *State v. Coffin*, 104 Idaho 543, 545 (1983). One exception to this general rule is for cases in which "a plea of guilty is coupled with an assertion of innocence" *State v. Hoffman*, 108 Idaho 720, 722 (Ct. App. 1985) In such circumstances, the district court may only accept a guilty plea "if there is a strong factual basis for it." *Id.* (citing *Sparrow v. State*, 102 Idaho 60 (1981), and *State v. Howell*, 104 Idaho 393 (Ct. App. 1983)). Such a factual basis need not rise to the level of proof beyond a reasonable doubt or require a "mini-trial of the case." *Id.* The purpose of the inquiry "is to assure that the defendant's plea is made knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily." *Id.* (citing *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25 (1970)).

In Alford, the United States Supreme Court considered whether the United States Constitution permitted a defendant to plead guilty while maintaining his factual innocence. Alford was charged with first-degree murder, a crime for which the presumptive punishment was death. Alford, 400 U.S. at 26-27. The prosecutor and Alford entered into a plea agreement, under the terms of which Alford agreed to plead guilty to the lesser, non-capital charge of second-degree murder. Before Alford entered his plea, the trial court received testimony from "a police officer who summarized the State's case" and two other witnesses. The testimony of these witnesses "indicated that shortly before the killing Alford took his gun from his house, stated his intention to kill the victim, and returned home with the declaration that he had carried out the killing." Alford then testified, denying that he had committed the murder, but stating "that he was pleading guilty because he faced the threat of the death penalty if he did not do so." The trial court accepted his guilty plea, and sentenced Alford to thirty years in prison, the maximum allowed by law. Id. at 28-29. Alford then sought habeas corpus relief in federal court, arguing that his plea was constitutionally-invalid because he only pleaded guilty to second-degree murder to avoid the near-certain imposition of a death sentence if he had been convicted of first-degree murder. Id. at 30.

In considering his claim, the United States Supreme Court noted that, but for the fact that he had asserted his innocence while pleading guilty, his case would have been routine. The Court noted, "[o]rdinarily, a judgment of conviction resting on a plea of guilty is justified by the defendant's admission that he committed the crime charged against him and his consent that judgment be entered without a trial of any kind. The plea usually subsumes both elements, and justifiably so, even though there is no

separate, express admission by the defendant that he committed the particular acts claimed to constitute the crime charged in the indictment." *Id.* at 32 (citations omitted).

Discussing nolo contendere pleas, the Court noted, "[a]n individual accused of crime may voluntarily, knowingly, and understandingly consent to the imposition of a prison sentence even if he is unwilling to unable to admit his participation in the acts constituting the crime." The Court then explained that it could perceive of no "material difference" between a nolo contendere plea, which is constitutionally-valid, "and a plea containing a protestation of innocence when, as in the instant case, a defendant intelligently concludes that his interests require entry of a guilty plea and the record before the judge contains strong evidence of actual guilt." Id. at 37 (emphasis added). In reaching its conclusion that his guilty plea was constitutionally-valid, the Court noted. "[w]hen his plea is viewed in light of the evidence against him, which substantially negated his claim of innocence and which further provided a means by which the judge could test whether the plea was being intelligently entered [citation omitted] its validity cannot be seriously questioned." Id. at 37-38 (emphasis added). The Court then concluded, "[i]n view of the strong factual basis for the plea demonstrated by the State[3] and Alford's clearly expressed desire to enter it despite his professed belief in his innocence, we hold that the judge did not commit constitutional error in accepting it." Id. (emphasis added).

³ As noted above, the strong evidence of actual guilt before the Court consisted of testimony from three witnesses, including testimony "that shortly before the killing Alford took his gun from his house, stated his intention to kill the victim, and returned home with the declaration that he had carried out the killing." *Id.* at 28.

Thus, *Alford* stands for the proposition that a strategically-entered guilty plea, coupled with continued assertions of innocence, can represent a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary guilty plea, but only when it is accompanied by a record containing a "strong factual basis" for the crime. Absent a strong factual basis, such a guilty plea is constitutionally-invalid. Decisions from a number of state appellate courts, including several in Idaho, have concluded as much in adopting the reasoning of *Alford* in their states.

The validity of *Alford* pleas in Idaho was first recognized by the Idaho Supreme Court in *Sparrow v. State*, 102 Idaho 60 (1981), when it considered whether a guilty plea offered by a defendant who maintained that he had not acted with the requisite criminal intent was constitutionally-valid. In concluding that such a guilty plea can be valid, the Court, citing *Alford*, explained, "[a]s long as there is a strong factual basis for the plea, and the defendant understands the charges against him, a voluntary plea of guilty may be accepted by the court despite a continuing claim by the defendant that he is innocent." *Sparrow*, 102 Idaho at 61. In Sparrow's case, "the prosecutor recited the factual basis for the charge and defendant's counsel agreed with the facts as stated," thereby providing the strong factual basis necessary to support such a plea. *Id.* at 62; see also Schoger v. State, 148 Idaho 622, 628 (2010) ("The Supreme Court [in *Alford*] found such a plea to be constitutionally permissible so long as the charge is supported by a strong factual basis.")

The Minnesota Supreme Court has explained "that careful scrutiny of the factual basis" for an *Alford* plea is necessary "because of the inherent conflict in pleading guilty while maintaining innocence. An *Alford* plea is not supported by the defendant's

admission of guilt, and is actually contradicted by his claim of innocence; precedent therefore requires a strong factual basis for an *Alford* plea." *State v. Theis*, 742 N.W.2d 643, 648-49 (Minn. 2007) (citing *Alford*, 400 U.S. at 37-38). The requirement for an underlying factual basis is distinct from the requirement that a defendant "agree[] that evidence the State is likely to offer at trial is sufficient to convict." Together, these two requirements "provide the court with a basis to independently conclude that there is a *strong* probability that the defendant would be found guilty of the charge to which he pleaded guilty, notwithstanding his claims of innocence." *Id.* at 649 (emphasis in original) (citation omitted).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has summarized the law as follows:

In Reynolds v. State, 521 So.2d 914, 917 (Miss. 1988), relying on Alford [citation omitted], we held that "admission of guilt is not a constitutional requisite of an enforceable plea."

We recognize, however, that a factual basis is an "essential part of the constitutionally valid and enforceable decision to plead guilty." *Reynolds*, 521 So.2d at 915. This factual basis cannot simply be implied from the fact that the defendant entered a plea of guilty. *United States v. Briggs*, 920 F.2d 287, 293 (5th Cir. 1991). Rather, there must be an evidentiary foundation in the record which is "sufficiently specific to allow the court to determine that the defendant's conduct was within the ambit of that defined as criminal." *United States v. Oberski*, 734 F.2d 1030, 1031 (5th Cir. 1984).

Lott v. State, 597 So.2d 627, 628 (Miss. 1992). The Mississippi Court of Appeals applied Lott to a case in which the factual basis underlying the Alford plea consisted simply of a prosecutor's statements as to what he believed the testimony of witnesses would have been at trial, with the Court concluding that such statements "were sufficiently specific to show that [the petitioner's] conduct was 'within the amount of that

defined as criminal.' *Lott*, 597 So.2d at 632." *Cole v. State*, 918 So.2d 890, 894 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

In Mr. Begley's case, the transcript of his plea hearing⁴ is devoid of a factual basis for his guilty plea, let alone the strong factual basis required under *Alford* and its progeny. The guilty plea hearing consists of a discussion of the terms of the plea agreement, specifically, that the State agreed to dismiss the original charging instrument, in which Mr. Begley was charged with lewd conduct, in exchange for Mr. Begley's agreement to enter an *Alford* plea to a charge of felony injury to a child.⁵ (Tr., p.1, L.18 – p.6, L.20.) The district court then placed Mr. Begley under oath, and explained the maximum and minimum penalties for the new charge, explained the rights that he was waiving by pleading guilty, and inquired about a guilty plea advisory form that Mr. Begley apparently executed.⁶ (Tr., p.7, L.5 – p.12, L.10.)

Mr. Begley was then advised that the district court was not bound to impose a particular sentence, that the court would be ordering a pre-sentence investigation, including a psychosexual evaluation, that he was not waiving his right to remain silent, except as it applied to his plea of guilty to felony injury to a child, that he was waiving

⁴ The transcript of his plea hearing was made a part of the record in the post-conviction case by order of the district court. (R., pp.57-58.) It will be cited to in this brief as "Tr." A version of the transcript paginated differently is attached to the State's Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Summary Disposition; all citations to the plea hearing transcript will be to the version prepared for the post-conviction case, which bears a district court file stamp indicating that it was filed at 11:40 a.m. on June 16, 2011, in CV-2011-1607.

⁵ The reason behind the reduced charge and the agreement to allow an *Alford* plea appears to be because Mr. Begley "took a polygraph test . . . and he passed the polygraph with reference to the other [lewd conduct] charge." (Tr., p.5, L.8 – p.6, L.20.) ⁶ The guilty plea advisory form was not a part of the record in the post-conviction case. (*See Generally* R.)

any procedural defects, and that he was reserving the right to appeal from any sentence imposed. (Tr., p.12, L.11 – p.15, L.7.) The attorneys and the court then discussed difficulties that Mr. Begley might have in treatment based on his having passed a polygraph as to the lewd conduct allegations, and the State explained that he was unlikely to face a probation violation for failing to disclose behavior in treatment for which he had passed a polygraph. (Tr., p.15, L.8 – p.20, L.14.) The district court then inquired as to Mr. Begley's mental health, asked whether he had ingested any alcohol or controlled substances recently, asked whether he needed additional time to consult with his attorney, and explained that, with respect to an *Alford* plea, "the court will treat this matter as if there was an injury to children." (Tr., p.20, L.15 – p.21, L.21.)

The district court then engaged in the following colloquy:

THE COURT: The Information that's been filed in this case charges the following offenses [sic]: That the Defendant David Begley, on or between the 1st day of January 2007, through May 27, 2007, in the County of Canyon, State of Idaho, did under circumstances likely to produce great bodily harm or death to a child under 18 years of age, specifically T.C., date of birth and/or A.H., date of birth and/or M.Z., date of birth August 4, 1997, unlawfully and willfully caused or permitted the person or health of the child to be injured while having care or custody of said child.

To that offense do you plead guilty?

[Defense Counsel:] Judge, we will enter an Alford plea to that charge.

THE COURT: Well, Mr. Begley, do you plead guilty to this offense on the basis that you feel the state has sufficient evidence that there's a likelihood they could prove their case at trial?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor, I don't think they can prove it but -

THE COURT: Well, here's the situation. My understanding of the case in Alford versus North Carolina, which is a case decided by the United States Supreme Court, that essentially stands for the proposition that a person can plead guilty to a crime even though they don't believe

they're guilty but on the basis that they understand that the state's evidence is strong enough that they very well may lose the case at a jury trial.

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah.

THE COURT: So I guess what I'm asking you is — I mean, you've talked to your attorney. And what I heard your attorney say earlier today is that the risk of losing on three charges of lewd and lascivious conduct against children is something that you've weighed in your consideration.

Is that fair to say?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: So is that why you're then pleading guilty to this new charge of injury to children?

THE DEFENDANT: If you're asking the reason why I'm pleading, it is because of the cost of the jury trial, one. Financially we can't afford it. Two, it's a flip of a coin; their word versus mine. My attorney has advised me of that; that it can go either way, and so I do understand. But that is the reason why I've chosen to follow this path is just financially, and I want it be over with and done. It's been drug out for a very long time.

THE COURT: Okay. But when you say or use the phrase, it's just a flip of the coin as to what could happen, what I'm hearing you say is that you agree that the jury very well could believe these children that get up and testify.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And if they did, the likelihood is that you would be found guilty by the jury. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. Your Honor.

THE COURT: So is that really – that risk, is that why you're pleading guilty to this offense?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Then I will accept your plea of guilty to this charge of injury to children.

(Tr., p.21, L.23 - p.24, L.12.)

Aside from reading the information to Mr. Begley, there was no mention of any facts supporting the charge, no stipulation from Mr. Begley or his attorney that there is a factual basis for the plea, nor any attempt to summarize the testimony that the State expected would be offered at trial. As the Minnesota Supreme Court noted in *Theis*, acknowledgement by a defendant that there is evidence such that a jury could find a defendant guilty is distinct from the requirement that the trial court determine that a strong factual basis exists for the charge to which the defendant is pleading guilty. As noted by the Court in *Theis*, it is only when both of these factors are present that the court has "a basis to independently conclude that there is a *strong* probability that the defendant would be found guilty of the charge to which he pleaded guilty, notwithstanding his claims of innocence." *Theis*, 742 N.W.2d at 649 (emphasis in original) (citation omitted).

In denying Mr. Begley's motion for summary disposition on this claim, and in providing notice of its intent to summarily dismiss his amended petition, the district court reasoned.

Begley claims that because the plea was an Alford Plea, Begley never admitted criminal wrongdoing but instead plead [sic] guilty to expedite the criminal proceedings and avoid financial hardship. This argument has little merit. This Court notified Begley that *Alford vs. North Carolina*, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S.Ct. 160 (1970), "stands for the proposition that a person can plead to a crime even though they don't believe they're guilty but on the basis that they understand that the state's evidence is strong enough that they very well may lose the case at a jury trial." Transcript of Proceedings at 22-23, (Mar. 27, 2009). Begley went on to acknowledge that a jury could likely find him guilty. *Id.* at 24. Even though Begley asserted the costs of a jury trial as a reason for his guilty plea, Begley was properly informed that he could request court appointed counsel who would be paid by the county. Guilty Plea Advisory at 1, (Mar. 27, 2009).[⁷]

⁷ The district court's reliance on the guilty plea advisory form is improper, as it was not a part of the record, nor was it judicially noticed.

For the foregoing reasons, after reviewing all the records in this case, this Court finds that Begley entered into his Alford Plea voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently.

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