UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-4-2012

Begley v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 39892

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

Ramirez, 122 Idaho at 834, 839 P.2d at 1248 (quoting Anderson v. State, 119

Idaho 994, 996, 812 P.2d 301, 303 (Ct. App. 1991). A factual basis need not be

proven by reasonable doubt, but it is necessary to determine a strong factual

basis exists to ensure the voluntariness of the plea:

By determining that a strong factual basis for the plea exists, the trial court ensures that the defendant is pleading guilty because he believes that the state could, and more likely than not would, prove the charges against him beyond a reasonable doubt; and thus the defendant is entering the plea knowingly and voluntarily because he believes it to be in his best interests to do so, despite his continued assertion of innocence.

Ramirez, 122 Idaho at 834, 839 P.2d at 1248. Desire to take advantage of a plea agreement is an appropriate basis for entry of an *Alford* plea. <u>See North</u> <u>Carolina v. Alford</u>, 400 U.S. 25, 31 (1970); <u>State v. Jones</u>, 129 Idaho 471, 474, 976 P.2d 1318, 1321 (Ct. App. 1996); <u>State v. Campbell</u>, 123 Idaho 922, 927, 854 P.2d 765, 770 (Ct. App. 1993); <u>Odom v. State</u>, 121 Idaho 625, 626-27, 826 P.2d 1337, 1338-39 (Ct. App. 1992). When determining if the requisite factual basis for the plea exists, an appellate court looks "to the entire record before the

trial judge at the time the plea was accepted." <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Fowler v. State</u>, 109 Idaho 1002, 1005, 712 P.2d 703, 706 (Ct. App. 1985).)

Begley was originally charged with three counts of lewd conduct with a child. (R., p.80.) As his attorney advised the district court at the change of plea hearing that there had been lengthy plea negotiations to arrive at a plea to a new charge of injury to child:

Judge, and perhaps I can explain the full ramifications of what has gone on here.

The court is aware that Mr. Begley took a polygraph test back in February and he passed the polygraph with reference to the other charge. Since then I've had considerable amount of communication with [the assigned prosecutor]. I've had conferences with [the elected prosecutor]. I've talked to another prosecutor about this matter on at least a couple of occasions, different prosecutors, and where we're at this afternoon is a compromise by both the state and Mr. Begley.

The compromise is a dismissal of the L and L charge in return for filing this charge and obtaining Mr. Begley's plea to this charge of injury to a child.

The compromise on our part is to accept the filing of this Information and entering a plea to this information. And we are receiving a benefit by doing that of not having to go to trial on the L and L charge with the risk – and we discussed that at length. We have gone back and forth on this with Mr. Begley and Mrs. Begley with reference to entering a plea to this charge this afternoon.

And what we were really doing here is a number of things: One is we are ending this matter with a plea. Number two we are receiving a benefit by not having to go to a jury trial on the L and L and risk conviction and subsequently having to register as a sex offender and the stigmatization that goes along with that in the event that the jury returned a verdict of guilty. And then obviously there's – we eliminate the cost of trial and the accruing costs of further legal proceedings in the matter as we proceed.

So with a compromise on the part of the state and a compromise that we're making, it is our desire this afternoon to

enter an Alford plea to this charge and take advantage of what the state has done and eliminate the risk of a potential jury verdict that may be adverse and that we avoid that.

(3/27/2009 Tr.¹, p.4, L.16 – p.6, L.4.) Upon inquiry from the court, the state provided additional background regarding Begley's charge in terms of what would happen if Begley were in sex offender treatment for the offense he was about to enter an *Alford* plea to:

Judge, I think what's going to happen with Mr. Begley is that there is going to be a victim's polygraph, but it's not going to be limited just to these three victims. [Defense counsel] has brought up quite a bit the polygraph that took place with regard to the charged victims. There was another polygraph with one of the uncharged victims which the court ruled could not testify pursuant to 404 (b) that Mr. Begley actually failed. So that's a huge factor as to why the state is asking and pushing so hard for him to attend sex offender treatment as I believe that he would benefit from it, especially given the fact that there are prior uncharged victims. That's a huge part of it. And I think that's what SANE Solutions is going to address. He's going to be facing victim's polygraphs to make sure there aren't additional victims and make sure that we have covered and the treatment covers all the possible victims out there.

(3/27/2009 Tr. p.18, L.24 – p.19, L.16.)

The district court had the benefit of having presided over motion hearings in the original lewd conduct case in addition to having the information as provided by the prosecutor about the existence of additional victims and victims' polygraph examinations as well as Begley's failed polygraph examination in addressing a victim not charged in the original lewd conduct case. All of these factors played a part in the amendment of the charges. That background information gave the

¹ This transcript of the change of plea hearing was made part of the record on appeal with the October 4, 2012 order granting motion to augment the record with "Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Summary Disposition, with attachments, file-stamped August 5, 2011."

district court a strong factual basis for the entry of a guilty plea to injury to child

and led into the following colloquy:

THE COURT: The Information that's been filed in this case charges the following offense: That the defendant David Begley on or between the first day of January 2007, through May 27, 2007, in the County of Canyon, State of Idaho, did under circumstances likely to produce great bodily harm or death to a child under 18 years of age, specifically T.C., date of birth and/or A.H., date of birth and/or unlawfully and willfully caused or permit the person or health of the child to be injured while having care or custody of said child.

Now, to that offense do you plead guilty?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Judge, we will enter an Alford plea to that charge.

THE COURT: Well, Mr. Begley, do you plead guilty to this offense on the basis that you feel like the state has sufficient evidence that there's a likelihood they could prove their case at trial?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor, I don't think they can prove it, but –

THE COURT: Well, here's the situation. My understanding of the case of Alford versus North Carolina, which is a case decided by the United States Supreme Court, it essentially stands for the proposition that a person can plead guilty to a crime even though they don't believe they're guilty but on the basis that they understand that the state's evidence is strong enough that they very well may lose the case at a jury trial.

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah.

THE COURT: So I guess what I'm asking you is – I mean, you've talked to your attorney. And what I heard your attorney say earlier today is that the risk of losing on three charges of lewd and lascivious conduct against children is something that you've weighed in your consideration. Is that fair to say?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: So is that why you're then pleading guilty to this new charge of injury to children?

THE DEFENDANT: If you're asking the reason why I'm pleading is because of the cost of the jury trial, one. Financially we can't afford it. Two, it's a flip of a coin, their word versus mine. My attorney has advised me of that, that it can go either way. And so I do understand, but that is the reason why I've chosen to follow this path is just financially and I want it to be over with and done. I mean, it's been drug out for a very long time.

THE COURT: Okay. But when you use the phrase it's just a flip of a coin as to what could happen, what I'm hearing you say is that you agree that the jury very well could believe these children that get up and testify.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And if they did, the likelihood is that you would be found guilty by the jury. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And so is that really – that risk, is that why you're pleading guilty to this offense?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

(3/27/09 Tr., p.21, L.1 – p.23, L.12.)

The record supports the conclusion that the trial judge made sufficient inquiry to determine there was a factual basis for the charge of injury to child as it replaced the original charges of lewd conduct with a child and that Begley entered his plea knowingly and voluntarily. The record supports the district court's conclusion that "after reviewing all the records in this case, this Court finds that Begley entered his Alford Plea voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently."

(R., p.84.) Begley has thus failed to show the court erred in concluding there

was no genuine issue of material fact and dismissing Begley's claim that he plea was not knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily made.

11.

Begley Has Failed To Establish Reversible Error In The Summary Dismissal Without Requisite Notice In The Court's Notice Of Intent To Dismiss Of His Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Claim For Failing To Strike The Information Regarding Uncharged Victims From Begley's Presentence Investigation Report

A. Introduction

Begley asserts on appeal that "the district court erred when, without providing notice of the reasons for dismissal, it summarily dismissed his claim that his attorney was ineffective for failing to object to, and move to strike from the pre-sentence investigation report, information concerning three other minors who had made unsubstantiated allegations of sexual abuse." (Appellant's brief, pp.13-14.) Because the underlying purpose of the notice requirement was upheld in this matter, any error was harmless and Begley's argument fails.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

On appeal from summary dismissal of a post-conviction petition, the appellate court reviews the record to determine if a genuine issue of material fact exists, which, if resolved in the applicant's favor, would entitle the applicant to the requested relief. <u>Matthews v. State</u>, 122 Idaho 801, 807, 839 P.2d 1215, 1221 (1992); <u>Aeschliman v. State</u>, 132 Idaho 397, 403, 973 P.2d 749, 755 (Ct. App. 1999). Appellate courts freely review whether a genuine issue of material fact

exists. <u>Edwards v. Conchemco, Inc.</u>, 111 Idaho 851, 852, 727 P.2d 1279, 1280 (Ct. App. 1986).

C. <u>A Review Of The Record Shows That Any Lack Of Notice For The</u> Specific Basis Upon Which The Court Dismissed Begley's Claim That His Counsel Was Ineffective For Failing To Strike The Information Of Three Uncharged Victims From Begley's Presentence Investigation Report Was At Worst Harmless Error

Idaho Code § 19-4906 provides for the summary disposition of an application for post-conviction relief upon motion by a party or on the court's own initiative. Follinus v. State, 127 Idaho 897, 899, 908 P.2d 590, 592 (Ct. App. "When the court considering the petition for post-conviction relief is 1995). contemplating dismissal sua sponte, it must notify the parties of its intention to dismiss and must provide its reasons for the potential dismissal." Banks v. State, 123 Idaho 953, 954, 855 P.2d 38, 39 (1993) (citations omitted). When the state files a motion for summary dismissal, setting forth adequate notice of the grounds for dismissal, and the court grants the state's motion for the reasons urged by the state, a post-conviction petitioner receives adequate notice of the grounds for dismissal. Baruth v. Gardner, 110 Idaho 156, 159, 715 P.2d 369, 372 (Ct. App. 1986). The district court cannot, however, "dismiss a claim on a ground not asserted by the state in its motion unless the court gives the twenty-day notice required by Section 19-4906(b)." DeRushé v. State, 146 Idaho 599, 602, 200 P.3d 1148, 1151 (2009) (citing Saykhamchone v. State, 127 Idaho 319, 322, 900 P.2d 795, 798 (1995)). The purpose of the 20-day notice requirement of I.C. § 19-4906(b) is to give the petitioner the opportunity to provide further legal authority or evidence to establish a genuine issue of material fact. Fetterly v.

State, 121 Idaho 417, 418, 825 P.2d 1073, 1074 (1991); State v. Christensen,

102 Idaho 487, 489, 632 P.2d 676, 678 (1981); Martinez v. State, 126 Idaho 813,

818, 892 P.2d 488, 493 (Ct. App. 1995).

In his amended petition for post-conviction relief, Begley claimed his

counsel was ineffective for failing to represent his interests in the following ways:

a) Failure to advise me that a psycho-sexual evaluation would be part of the presentence investigation process.

b) Failure to advise me of my rights not to participate in a psycho-sexual evaluation and my right to consult with an attorney prior to the evaluation process.

c) Failure to discuss with me, and prepare me for, the psychosexual evaluation process.

d) Prior to changing my plea, counsel failed to advise me what was meant by a minimum of one (1) year sentence in this case.

e) Counsel wrongfully advised me to change my plea from not guilty to guilty.

f) Counsel failed to secure for me a plea agreement that was binding not only upon the State but the Court as well.

g) Counsel failed to request a change of venue due to the tremendous amount of pretrial publicity about my case.

h) Counsel failed to call as witnesses during my sentencing hearing Chip Morgan, polygrapher, and Dr. Johnson, the psychosexual evaluator, to present testimony in mitigation.

i) Counsel failed to object to, and move to strike from the presentence investigation report, information about three (3) other minors who had made unsubstantiated allegations of sexual abuse by me.

(R., pp.37-38.) Begley filed a motion for summary disposition that addressed only the voluntary nature of his plea, failing to address any of the remaining

allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. (R., pp.52-53, 60-76.)

The district court filed an order denying Begley's motion for summary dismissal and providing notice of its intent to dismiss Begley's petition for postconviction relief. The court noted Begley alleged ineffective assistance of counsel on the following grounds:

Begley was alleged he was told by [defense counsel] he would be placed on probation and that the judge would grant him a withheld judgment; Begley alleged that [defense counsel] did not inform him that the Court would order a psycho-sexual evaluation which would be used during his sentencing hearing; Begley alleged that [defense counsel] did not attempt to seek a change of venue from the Court because of media coverage; and Begley alleged that [defense] counsel failed to adequately represent him by failing to present Chip Morgan who conducted the polygraph test and Dr. Johnson who performed the psycho-sexual evaluation at his sentencing hearing.

(R., p.84.) The court articulated the two prongs of the <u>Strickland</u>² test and concluded, "Begley made these claims without any support, and did not brief the issue. The court finds nothing in the record to find counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." (R., p.84.)

Begley filed a response to the court's notice of intent to dismiss again only addressing the issue of the voluntariness of his guilty plea and failing to provide any additional information in support of any of his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. (See R., pp.87-91.) The court thereafter dismissed Begley's petition for post-conviction relief on the grounds set forth in its notice of intent to dismiss. (R., pp.92-94.)

The court's recitation of Begley's ineffective counsel claims omitted the final allegation in Begley's amended petition for post-conviction relief, namely the

² <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984).

allegation that counsel was ineffective for failing to strike the information of the three uncharged victims from the presentence investigation report. However, Begley's appellate claim he did not understand his last allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel was subject to dismissal is without merit. Read as a whole, the district court gave notice that the entire claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, not just part of it, was subject to summary dismissal for failure to support it with evidence.

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